
Shropshire Council
Legal and Democratic Services
Shirehall
Abbey Foregate
Shrewsbury
SY2 6ND

Date:   Monday, 6 November 2017

Committee: 
Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership

Date: Tuesday, 14 November 2017
Time: 9.30 am
Venue: Shropshire Room, Craven Arms Community Centre, Newington Way, 
Craven Arms, Shropshire, SY7 9PS

You are requested to attend the above meeting. 
The Agenda is attached

Claire Porter
Corporate Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)

Members of Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership
James Williamson (Chairman)
George Chancellor (Vice Chairman)
Heather Kidd
Cecilia Motley
Robert Tindall
David Turner
Chris Turley
Alison Caffyn
John Long
Joe Manifold
Andrew Wood
Mr John Woolmer
Ms Hilary Claytonsmith
Janine Hayter
Mark Hughes
Yvonne Holyoak
Steve Pennington
Martin Pye
Caroline Bedell
Gillian Binks
Mike Brogden

Sarah Bury
Veronica Cossons
Paul Davis
Ian Dormor
Patrick Edwards
Carol Griffiths
Alan Jones
Sue Jones
Jenny Joy
Bill Klemperer
Sue Lee
Marc Liebrecht
Hazel MacDowell
David McGlade
Mr David Mills
Mr Andy Pugh
Ronald Repath
David C. Smith
Leo Smith
Ms Donna Tavenor
Michael Whithouse



Your Committee Officer is: 

Tim Ward  Committee Officer
Tel:  01743 257713
Email:  tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk



AGENDA
1 Welcome and Apologies for Absence 

To receive apologies for absence

2 Minutes of the last meeting (Pages 1 - 4)

The note of the meeting held on 13 June 2017 is attached for confirmation

3 Election of Chair, Vice Chairs and Transition Board Seats 

To elect a Chair and 2 Vice Chairs and to nominate members to sit on the 
Transition Board

4 Update on submission to Defra for Conservation Board 

To receive a verbal update on the submission to Defra for Conservation Board

5 Our Common Cause - Uplands Commons Project (Pages 5 - 8)

This paper updates members about the Upland Commons project which is just starting 
after stage 1 approval by the Heritage Lottery Fund.

6 Draft Shropshire Hills Sustainable Tourism Strategy Consultation (Pages 9 
- 32)

This paper seeks comments from Partnership members on the draft Sustainable 
Tourism Strategy for the Shropshire Hills for 2017-22.

7 AONB Management Plan Review (Pages 33 - 38)

This paper outlines the process and proposed timetable for the five year AONB Management 
Plan review. There will be brief verbal presentations of current key issues by member reps of a 
number of partner organisations, to initiate the Plan review process.

8 Date of Next Meeting 

Members are advised that the next meeting of the Shropshire Hills AONB 
Partnership will be held on Tuesday 6 March 2018 at 9.30am.





Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership – 14 November 2017 - Minutes of Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership held on 13 
June 2017

1

Shropshire Hills 
AONB Partnership

14 November 2017

9.30 am

Item

Public

MINUTES OF THE SHROPSHIRE HILLS AONB PARTNERSHIP MEETING HELD ON 
13 JUNE 2017 
9.30 - 11.45 AM

Responsible Officer:    Tim Ward
Email:  tim.ward@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257713

Present 

Local Authorities

Shropshire Council Cllr David Turner

Telford & Wrekin Council Cllr Chris Turley

Statutory/Voluntary Agencies & Individual members

Individual Member Andy Boddington
Individual Member James Williamson (Chair)
Town & Parish Council representative Hilary Claytonsmith
Town & Parish Council representative Yvonne Holyoak
British Horse Society Ronald Repath 
Caring for God’s Acre Gill Binks
Campaign to Protect Rural England Sarah Bury
Forestry Commission Donna Tavernor
Longmynd & District Bridleways Association Sue Lee
National Farmers Union Carol Griffiths
Ramblers Association Sue Jones
Strettons Civic Society Ian Dormor
Shropshire Wildlife Trust Veronica Cossons

Observers/Officers

Shropshire Council Neil Willcox (Local Commissioning Manager)
Tim Ward  (Committee Officer)
 

Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership 
Staff Team

Phil Holden  (AONB Partnership Manager)



Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership – 14 November 2017 - Minutes of Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership held on 13 
June 2017

2

1 Welcome and Apologies for Absence 

1.1 The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting.

1.2 Apologies for absence had been received from Mike Brogden (Shropshire Tourism), 
Alison Caffyn (Individual Member), George Chancellor (Individual Member), Lee 
Chapman (Shropshire Hills Tourism), Joy Greenall (Life, Land and Livelihoods) 
Rhona Goddard (Butterfly Conservation), Hazel McDowell, (Natural England), 
David Mills (SASTAK), Cecilia Motley (Shropshire Council), Leo Smith (Shropshire 
Ornithological Society/Upper Onney Wildlife Group) and John Tucker (Parish 
Council Representative).

2 Minutes of the last meeting 

2.1 The note of the meeting held on 21 March 2017 had been circulated.

2.2 RESOLVED

That the note of the meeting held on 21 March 2017 be agreed as a true record.

3 Update on Submission to Defra for Creation of a Conservation Board 

3.1 The AONB Partnership Manager informed the meeting that DEFRA had sent a 
letter to all AONB Partnership Chairs which had stated that DEFRA was not keen 
on the creation of new Conservation Boards but that where there were exceptional 
circumstances and a compelling case, applications may be considered.

3.2 The AONB Partnership Manager commented that the DEFRA civil servant that was 
dealing with the application had advised that it would be possible to re-submit the 
application.

3.3 The Chairman commented that alongside the work being carried out on 
resubmitting the application, the Transition Board was starting to consider 
alternative arrangements if the Conservation Board application was unsuccessful.

4 Brexit Issues And Shropshire Hills AONB 

4.1 Members received the report of the AONB Partnership Manager which set out 
some of the implications of Brexit issues on the AONB.

4.2 The AONB Partnership Manager commented that it was too early in the process to 
create a position statement but that the discussions would aid the Partnership in 
future discussions with partners. 

4.3 A workshop session took place with members considering a number of issues.  
Each group reported back at the send of the session.



Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership – 14 November 2017 - Minutes of Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership held on 13 
June 2017

3

5 AONB Team Work Programme Update 

5.1 Members received the report of the AONB Partnership Manager which gave an 
update of recent activity by the AONB Team.

5.2 The AONB Partnership Manager reminded Members that the Conservation Fund 
was now being operated by the AONB Trust and informed them that under a written 
joint working agreement the AONB Team was continuing to provide support to 
applicants and the Panel for a small fee.  He advised that in 2017-18, grants had 
been awarded to 18 Groups and organisations.

5.3 The AONB Partnership Manager advised that the application to the Heritage Lottery 
Fund for the Uplands Common Project was to be resubmitted by the Foundation for 
Common Land. He informed the meeting that the North York Moors National Park 
had withdrawn from the project, which would now work in four areas of the country.

5.4 The AONB Partnership Manager advised Members that as part of the Stiperstones 
and Corndon Hill Country Landscape Partnership Scheme, stabilisation works had 
been completed at the 1784 Engine House at Pontesford at a cost of around 
£100,000, which was the largest capital project within the scheme.

5.5 The AONB Manager advised Members that Nigel McDonald, the Sustainable 
Tourism Officer was reducing his days of work from full time to 3 days per week.

5.6 The Chairman thanked the AONB Team for all the work that they did.

6 Appointment of Trustees to the Shropshire Hills AONB Trust 

6.1 The meeting received the report of the AONB Partnership Manager which sought 
approval for the re-appointment of George Chancellor as a Partnership nominated 
trustee on the Shropshire Hills AONB Trust and nominations for a further trustee.

6.2 The AONB Partnership Manager reminded Members that three of the eight trustees 
of the Shropshire Hills AONB Trust were appointed by the Partnership, and that 
George Chancellors term of appointment had ended.  The AONB Partnership 
Manager advised that Mr Chancellor was willing to continue as a Trustee and it was 
proposed that he should be reappointed.

6.3 The AONB Partnership Manager advised that there was currently a vacancy for a 
Trustee following Mrs Bury’s decision to stand down.  It was proposed that Veronica 
Cossons be appointed as a Trustee.

6.4 The AONB Partnership Manager reminded the meeting that the third Partnership 
appointed Trustee was Janine Hayter whose term of office expired in December 
2018.

6.4 RESOLVED

That Mr George Chancellor and Lady Veronica Cossons be appointed to serve as 
nominated trustees on the Shropshire Hills AONB Trust.



Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership – 14 November 2017 - Minutes of Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership held on 13 
June 2017

4

7 Joint Tour Event - 7 July 2017 

7.1 The AONB Partnership Manager gave an update on the arrangements for the Joint 
Tour event on 7 July and reminded Members to advise the office if they were 
planning to attend, if they had not already done so.

8 Date of Next Meeting 

8.1 Members were advised that the next meeting of the Partnership would be held on 
Tuesday 14 November 2017 at 9.30am.



 1 

 

 Committee and Date 

Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership 

 

14th November 2017 

 Item 

 

 5 
 

 

 

‘OUR COMMON CAUSE’ – UPLAND COMMONS PROJECT 

 

Responsible Officer Phil Holden, AONB Partnership Manager 

e-mail: phil.holden@shropshire.gov.uk  Tel: 01743 254741   

 

Summary 

 

This paper updates members about the Upland Commons project which we are part of, which 

is just starting after stage 1 approval by the Heritage Lottery Fund.  The project is led by the 

Foundation for Common Land, a small national organisation, and will work on selected 

commons on Dartmoor, the Lake District, Shropshire Hills and Yorkshire Dales.  There is an 

emphasis on sharing experience between the areas, along with some national outputs. 

 

Recommendation 

The Partnership is recommended to note and comment on the project’s activities. 

 

 

Background 

Project summary  (from HLF funding aplication) 

At the heart of England’s most loved and visited places are Commons managed by 

commoners’ traditional husbandry systems. Our project will enhance the centuries-old 

heritage of upland commons in four of England’s most significant cultural landscapes. 

The natural and cultural heritage of commons has declined and Brexit threatens the viability 

of commoning and the value of commons to society. We address these threats under three 

aims: 

 ‘Enabling Collaborative Management’, 

 ‘Reconnecting People with Commons’ and 

 ‘Improving Public Benefits’: 

We plan to collectively build skills, trial practical conservation, and through learning and 

volunteering, increase and celebrate ancient cultural practices and environmental assets. 

Our legacy will be more people enjoying and understanding commons and communities 

empowered to safeguard the heritage of commons. 

A national approach is essential to create bridges of learning between dispersed sites with 

similar characteristics. Outcomes will be significantly greater and enduring than through 

individual projects. 

 

 

mailto:phil.holden@shropshire.gov.uk


 2 

What the project will do 

‘Our Common Cause’ will conserve and enhance the heritage of commons and commoning in 

upland England.  It will directly improve the management of almost 30,000ha of upland 

common and with it the delivery of a wide range of ecosystems services. It will share learning 

and best practice between commoners, many of whom live in isolated rural communities with 

limited opportunity to communicate with commoners in other areas. Furthermore it will 

connect low young people from low income households with commons so that their heritage 

is enjoyed by wider audiences. 

We have identified three thematic aims: 

A) Enabling Collaborative Management 

B) Reconnecting People with Commons 

C) Improving Public Benefits 

We will work on at least 12 commons across Dartmoor, the Lake District, Shropshire Hills and 

Yorkshire Dales. This trans-regional approach is essential due to the fragmented nature of 

commons across England and their location in remote rural areas with socially and 

economically marginal communities. Although disparate geographically, the commons 

selected share many attributes and issues; these include: 

 governance models – voluntary commons associations 

 support mechanisms – Higher Level Stewardship, Basic Payment Scheme 

 designation – many are SSSIs or SACs and therefore subject to environmental 

legislation and restrictions 

 public use – all commons have open access 

 economically marginal – upland farms with common land support the lowest net farm 

incomes in the agricultural sector 

 considerable uncertainty in the light of Brexit 

Consequently, there is an urgent need to work at both national and local levels. The project 

will promote the sharing of best practice between commons and areas, to build capacity and 

increase capability. There will also be considerable focus on increasing understanding of the 

cultural, environmental and historic significance of the selected commons, and engaging local 

people through events and training, to strengthen the sense of local pride and ownership of 

commons. Cross regional working will be strengthened by appointing staff to lead on specific 

strands of the project and work closely with colleagues elsewhere to share best practice. 

The project builds on the work and findings of the “Better Outcomes” study during 2014. This 

identified a strong need to increase mutual understanding between commoners and 

stakeholders at both local and national level to resolve conflict and agree coherent and 

connected objectives that will deliver better outcomes for commons, commoning and the 

environment. The project will facilitate knowledge exchange between parties with a stake in 

commons, thereby improving understanding, mutual respect and the effectiveness of 

communication. 

The two year development stage of the project (Nov 2017 – Oct 2019) will carry out some 

vital foundation work in the identification and agreement of this common ground. It will: 

 undertake detailed audits of the environmental and cultural assets of each common 



 3 

 explore the importance of social and cultural drivers within the commoning 

communities of two of the project areas, 

 develop a vision and action plan for the selected commons 

 provide familiarisation days for policy makers 

 establish a Charter for Common Land Management between the project partners 

Further information about these is contained in question 5a. The delivery stage will 

build on the information and collaboration established during development 

 develop a package to support the delivery of the John Muir Award with a focus on 

common land and commoning to ensure a wider section of society understands and 

enjoys commons. 

 

Discussions with commoners, NGOs and public bodies across all four areas has identified the 

following indicative project proposals for the three year Delivery phase (2020-2022). These 

have been grouped as follows into the three themes described above.  (The Better Outcomes 

study provided evidence that outputs delivered under theme C are dependent on successful 

work under themes A and B). 

A) ENABLING COLLABORATIVE MANAGEMENT 

 Rolling out the visioning process to at least 16 more commons across the four areas 

 Creating a hub (web based) and organising regional commoners “gathers” to share 

learning and experience and disseminate best practice 

 Sharing learning on the outcomes approach across the areas 

 Identifying and supporting at least 12 commons’ ambassadors 

 Providing support and training to at least 100 conservationists about commoners, 

commons, game sports and upland agriculture 

 Creating electronic registers for at least 20 more Common land units 

B) RECONNECTING PEOPLE WITH COMMONS 

 Establishing a programme of locally relevant events and activities across commons 

including walks and talks, and, re-establishing shepherds’ meets that address 21st 

century issues 

 Enabling Delivery of the John Muir Award focusing on commons and commoning to 480 

young people 

 Two audiences will be engaged, i) those that offer residential courses to people from 

deprived areas and ii) schools and youth groups from deprived wards within day travel of 

the area 

 Producing interpretive material to increase understanding of commoning and commons, 

and the role they play in the provision of public goods and services 

 Using oral history to explore commoning traditions and landscape change 

 Establishing 8 volunteer groups to carry out a range of conservation and management 

activities with commoners on commons 

 Providing training and mentoring for 16 new entrants or young commoners 

 Establishing an 18 month, level 2 apprenticeship scheme for 8 aspiring commoners 



 4 

C) IMPROVING PUBLIC BENEFITS 

The details of projects included in theme C will flow from the visioning exercises and 

management plans produced during development: 

 CARBON AND WATER STORAGE: Piloting and rolling out innovative approaches to peat 

and water conservation on blanket bogs and wetland 

 HISTORIC: Conserving 36 archaeological features on the commons 

 HISTORIC: Conserving 15 historic utilitarian features associated with commoning, e.g. 

sheepfolds and pounds 

 ACCESS: Improving and managing access in 40 priority locations through strategic physical 

improvements, bracken control and tick management 

 BIODIVERSITY: Conserving flagship species and habitats, at key sites, for example ring 

ouzel, pearl-bordered fritillary and blanket bog 

 CULTURAL: Carrying out 24 small scale improvements to assist shepherding and gathering, 

for example to stock handling pens, gates or to control bracken impeding gathers 

 Providing 24 training courses in habitat and archaeological site monitoring to commoners 

and local residents 

Local delivery 

In the Shropshire Hills we have already convened an area group of stakeholders from various 

commons.  The three main commons the project will work with are the Long Mynd, Clee 

Liberty and the Stiperstones, though there will be opportunities to involve people from other 

commons if they wish.  The AONB Partnership will be contracted to provide the services of 

Cath Landles from the AONB team as the Area Facilitator for the Shropshire Hills area.   

 

 

List of Background Papers  

Foundation for Common Land: http://www.foundationforcommonland.org.uk/news/546-our-

common-cause-our-upland-commons.  

Human Rights Act Appraisal 

The information in this report is compatible with the Human Rights Act 1998. 

Environmental Appraisal 

The recommendation in this paper will contribute to the conservation of protected 

landscapes. 

Risk Management Appraisal 

Risk management has been appraised as part of the considerations of this report. 

Community / Consultations Appraisal  

The topics raised in this paper have been the subject of earlier consultations with Partnership 

members. 

Appendices    

None 

 

http://www.foundationforcommonland.org.uk/news/546-our-common-cause-our-upland-commons
http://www.foundationforcommonland.org.uk/news/546-our-common-cause-our-upland-commons


 1 

 

 Committee and Date 

Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership 

 

14th November 2017 

 Item 

 

 6 
 

 

 

DRAFT SUSTAINABLE TOURISM STRATEGY 

 

Responsible Officer Phil Holden, AONB Partnership Manager 

e-mail: phil.holden@shropshire.gov.uk  Tel: 01743 254741   

 

Summary 

 

This paper seeks comments from Partnership members on the draft new Sustainable Tourism 

Strategy for the Shropshire Hills for 2017-22.  

 

Recommendation 

The Partnership is recommended to comment on the draft Strategy. 

 

 

Background 

The AONB Partnership has been closely involved with the Shropshire Hills & Ludlow 

Destination Partnership since 2011, and commissioned the production of a Sustainable 

Tourism Strategy for the area, funded by Advantage West Midlands.  Based on this, we also 

hold the Europarc Federation’s ‘Charter for Sustainable Tourism in Protected Areas’, as one of 

only seven AONBs of the 38 in England and Wales. 

Five years on, we continue to run the Destination Partnership for the Shropshire Hills, now in 

conjunction with Shropshire Hills Tourism, which is recognised by Visit Britain as a Destination 

Management Organisation (DMO).  This recognition from the tourism industry side is very 

valuable.  The recent rounds of EU funding via Defra in the RDPE Growth Programme referred 

to the Destination Partnerships’ strategies as the key guiding documents.  Funding was 

sought for renewal of the Strategy, but since this was not successful, the Strategy is being 

renewed through ‘in-house’ partner capacity of the Destination Partnership, in which we are 

taking a lead. 

While the principle of sustainable tourism has wide support in the area, since both visitors 

and local people appreciate the ‘unspoilt’ nature of the area, there are also pressures, 

including: 

 Visitor numbers are increasing and localised impacts of certain activities e.g. mountain 

biking and large events, require more input to manage effectively 

 Political pressure for less constraints on development through the planning system 

 Reduced public sector resources into infrastructure important to visitors, including 

Visitor Information Centres, public toilets, footpaths and countryside sites 

 Reduced sector support for tourism from Shropshire Council 

mailto:phil.holden@shropshire.gov.uk


 2 

 Changing public perceptions of sustainability, and a need to re-energise these 

initiatives. 

 

An on-line survey of businesses has been carried out, and a valuable consultation event was 

held with stakeholders on 31st October.  The Strategy will be refined taking into account the 

comments and input received, and approved by the Destination Partnership in December, 

before the Charter renewal submission is made by the end of the year. 

 

 

 

List of Background Papers  

Information on the Destination Partnership is at http://www.shropshirehillsaonb.co.uk/aonb-

partnership/area-initiatives/shropshire-hills-and-ludlow-destination-development-

partnership/.   

Human Rights Act Appraisal 

The information in this report is compatible with the Human Rights Act 1998. 

Environmental Appraisal 

The recommendation in this paper will contribute to the conservation of protected 

landscapes. 

Risk Management Appraisal 

Risk management has been appraised as part of the considerations of this report. 

Community / Consultations Appraisal  

The topics raised in this paper have been the subject of earlier consultations with Partnership 

members. 

Appendices    

Appendix 1 Draft Shropshire Hills Sustainable Tourism Strategy 2017-22 

 

 

 

http://www.shropshirehillsaonb.co.uk/aonb-partnership/area-initiatives/shropshire-hills-and-ludlow-destination-development-partnership/
http://www.shropshirehillsaonb.co.uk/aonb-partnership/area-initiatives/shropshire-hills-and-ludlow-destination-development-partnership/
http://www.shropshirehillsaonb.co.uk/aonb-partnership/area-initiatives/shropshire-hills-and-ludlow-destination-development-partnership/


  

PROMOTING ENVIRONMENTALLY POSITIVE 

TOURISM IN THE SHROPSHIRE HILLS 
Shropshire Hills Sustainable Tourism Strategy 2017-2022 

Shropshire Hills Destination Partnership   October 2017 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 1 
 

Contents  

1. Foreword 2 

2. Introduction 3 

3. Who is the ‘we’ in this strategy? 4 

4. Our vision 5 

5. Aim of this strategy 5 

6. Strategy objectives 5 

7. Action plan 6 

8. Next steps – making it happen 12 

Appendix 1. Tourism context, challenges & opportunities 13 

Appendix 2. Destination Management Organisations in Shropshire 13 

Appendix 3. Policy context 14 

Appendix 4. Review of last 5 years 15 

Appendix 5. A snapshot of our visitors 18 

Appendix 6. The role of the Shropshire Hills Destination Partnership 19 

Appendix 7. Destination SWOT analysis 20 

 

 

  



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 2 
 

1. Foreword 
This is a draft strategy for consultation on the future 

priorities for co-ordinating and developing tourism in 

the Shropshire Hills.  The ideas and actions set out 

here have come from our many conversations so far, 

but we welcome your thoughts on these and on how 

you can help. 

The Shropshire Hills to those who know it is a hidden 

gem.  This strategy aspires to make it a stand out 

rural destination, while retaining its essence and 

quality. Our visitors are attracted by outstanding 

landscapes, fresh air, good food, challenges, simple 

comforts and feeling part of a traditional rural 

community.  We want them to know that the places 

they cherish will be cherished in the same way by 

their children and their children’s children. This goal 

cannot be achieved by one organisation working 

alone and that is why this strategy’s main theme is 

working together.  We will work with the businesses 

on the front line, and with organisations at a local, 

county, national and even international level. The 

Shropshire Hills are a jewel in Shropshire’s crown, 

something to be enjoyed but treasured. 

Paul Davis Chair of Shropshire Hills Tourism 

Phil Holden Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership 

Manager and Chair of Shropshire Hills Destination 

Partnership  



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 3 
 

2. Introduction 
Tourism has changed a lot in the last five years.  

There are new challenges to face and new 

opportunities to explore.  This strategy picks up 

from where the 2011-16 Shropshire Hills & 

Ludlow Sustainable Tourism Strategy left off. It 

will be the Destination Plan for the area, 

following the guidelines set out by Visit Britain. It 

will establish the priorities and set the direction 

for the next five years.   

The importance of tourism in the Shropshire 

Hills 
A study in 2011 stated that tourism was worth 

over £5011 million to Shropshire’s economy and 

provided over 15,000 jobs. A further study2 

indicated that over £211 million of this was spent 

by visitors in southern Shropshire3.  This 

represents 28% of all employment, equal to 

4,403 jobs4.  

Tourism is vital to the economy of the Shropshire 

Hills.  Many small businesses and farms depend 

on the opportunities tourism brings.  Tourism is 

the lifeblood of many of our market towns.  

Money spent by visitors helps keep our 

communities together.  

                                                           

1 Shropshire Tourism 
2 Shropshire Tourism / The Research Solution (TRS) 

Tourism is part of our landscape’s future.         

The Shropshire Hills are an Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty.  People come to enjoy our clean 

air, unspoiled open spaces, stunning views, dark 

skies, wildlife, rich heritage, traditions and 

vibrant culture.   

It is a special landscape that needs to be 

managed carefully and cherished.  This strategy 

is supported by the Shropshire Hills AONB 

Management Plan.  It is also the foundation for 

the AONB Partnership’s application for continued 

recognition as a sustainably managed destination 

under the European Charter for Sustainable 

Tourism in Protected Areas. 

  

3 Includes Bridgnorth and Severn Valley 
4 FTE Full time equivalent 

The Shropshire Hills AONB is part 

of the Europarc Federation, and 

was awarded its ‘Charter for 

Sustainable Tourism in Protected 

Areas’ in 2011. 

The Shropshire Hills is one of only 

seven AONBs of the 38 in England and 

Wales to have obtained the Charter.  

We hope that by renewing the Charter 

accreditation we can continue to 

benefit from a raised profile and 

reputation for the area, along with 

learning from a broad international 

network. 

This strategy will help us renew 

our membership and maintain our 

international reputation. 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 4 
 

3. Who is the ‘we’ in this strategy? 

The Shropshire Hills 
The Shropshire Hills destination consists of the 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and 

surrounding area. This includes the market towns 

of Ludlow, Bishop’s Castle, Clun, Craven Arms, 

Church Stretton and Much Wenlock.  Ludlow is 

an established and well-known brand in its own 

right.  The Shropshire Hills Destination benefits 

from Ludlow’s popularity and seeks to work with 

and alongside its Destination Partnership. 

The Organisations 
Shropshire Hills Destination Partnership oversees 

the sustainable development of tourism in the 

Shropshire Hills.  It has 32 members including 

Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership, National 

Trust, Shropshire Hills Tourism, Shropshire 

Tourism, Ludlow, Church Stretton, Bishop’s 

Castle and Much Wenlock Town Councils, English 

Heritage and Shropshire Gold. 

Its membership seeks to represent everyone who 

has a stake in the area’s visitor economy, from 

B&B providers and other small businesses to 

national conservation bodies.  

 

 

 

Working together  
Tourism can work more effectively, and more 

sustainably, if everyone involved works 

together.  This strategy is all about improving co-

ordination and collaboration, and working 

towards shared priorities and actions.  We want 

you to contribute your ideas to the strategy and 

your actions to its delivery.   

 

  

 

The ‘we’ is all of us 

‘Coming together is a beginning; keeping together is progress; working 

together is success.’ 

                                                                                       Henry Ford 

 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 5 
 

4. Our vision 
The Shropshire Hills is a nationally recognised, 

sustainably managed tourism destination, valued 

for its outstanding landscape, diverse visitor 

experience and important contribution to the 

economy of Shropshire. 

5. Aim of this strategy  
To guide tourism activity that develops, manages 

and promotes the Shropshire Hills as a high 

quality sustainable tourism destination.  

6. Strategy objectives 
i. To promote the Shropshire Hills as a 

sustainably managed destination, 

highlighting and safeguarding the area’s 

outstanding qualities and capacity for 

enjoyment, health and wellbeing 

 

ii. To increase enjoyment and understanding of 

our outstanding landscape’s nature and 

heritage, promoting environmentally positive 

solutions to their management   

 

iii. To orientate visitors and promote 

exploration, spreading visitor use across the 

area and throughout the year to share 

economic benefits and reduce 

environmental impacts 

 

iv. To support the visitor economy through 

promoting sustainable businesses, produce, 

and activities 

 

v. To work in close partnership with tourism 

organisations, attractions and communities 

in the Shropshire Hills, across the county and 

with our neighbouring destinations   

                                  Pictures will look like this with floating captions 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 6 
 

7. Action plan 
The following action plan sets out the planed 

priorities for the next five years.  Is starts with 

our aim: 

To guide tourism activity that 

develops, manages and promotes the 

Shropshire Hills as a high quality 

sustainable tourism destination.  

Objective 1 To promote the Shropshire Hills 

as a sustainably managed destination, 

highlighting and safeguarding the area’s 

outstanding qualities and capacity for 

enjoyment, health and wellbeing 

Creating an ‘Outstanding’ destination 

We will produce a new marketing plan that 

engages, inspires, coordinates and differentiates 

our unique destination.  

It will define the Shropshire Hills as a stand out 

destination.  It will maximise the benefits derived 

from association with Ludlow, Ironbridge and 

Shrewsbury whilst building its own market 

profile.  It will differentiate us, promoting our 

distinctive qualities and develop cost effective 

ways of reaching audiences.  It will maximise 

social media as a way of reaching audiences. This 

will create dialogues with them, encouraging 

them to care about and enjoy our unique 

destination.    

The values of the destination are reflected by the 

businesses that it supports.  The new marketing 

plan will create ways to work with local tourism 

providers to communicate our shared values and 

messages to their customers. It will identify 

resources and support to develop web, e-

commerce and social media skills within the 

sector.  

Help others to help ourselves 

Ludlow has been a successful independent 

destination for many years.  We recognise its 

distinctive brand and celebrate its success.  We 

believe both Ludlow and the Shropshire Hills 

benefit significantly by working closely together.   

 We will work collaboratively, improving our 

access to funding, markets and maximising 

our resources  

Coordinate our offer and messages 

 We will use the marketing plan to bring 

together all of our partners in the adoption 

of a brand that represents them and speaks 

to our visitors   

 We will seek to develop a brand image that 

businesses and partners see as essential to 

their business and its recognition within the 

destination 

Case Study to follow 

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur 

adipiscing elit. Donec finibus lacus in est 

iaculis aliquet. Nam tincidunt varius 

tempor. Aenean et maximus dui. Interdum 

et malesuada fames ac ante ipsum primis 

in faucibus. Suspendisse eu tortor 

condimentum, pharetra nibh tristique, 

posuere eros. 

 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 7 
 

Show off the beauty and uniqueness of the 

Shropshire Hills  

We need to work on what differentiates us from 

other destinations.  It is not enough to say we 

have hills and open spaces.  Modern audiences 

are interested in unique opportunities and 

experiences.  

 We will develop resources and improve 

methods of showing off the very best of our 

destination.   

Well-informed activity 

We need to do more to understand the needs of 

our visitors and the businesses that service them.   

 We will seek resources for research 

purposes, gather better information and 

share it with our business community and 

destination partners 

A valued Charter 

The European Charter for Sustainable Tourism in 

Protected Areas will become central to our 

reputation.   

 We will use the Charter to inspire businesses 

and our visitors to leave a greener footprint 

in the Shropshire Hills   

Be a bigger part of the whole 

Our destination represents over a quarter of the 

County’s tourism offer.  

 We will work to present a consistent and 

coordinated offer, working in partnership at 

a county level and beyond 

Developing a reputation 

It is unlikely that the Shropshire Hills will ever 

compete with the UK’s top rural destinations.  

However, it has a lot to offer.   

 We will build a reputation that celebrates the 

undiscovered, undeveloped, uncommercial 

and relaxed pace of the Shropshire Hills 

Helping visitors find and enjoy the good stuff 

Fear of missing out (FOMO) has become one of 

the biggest concerns for visitors.  Studies show 

that increasingly visitors tend not to overthink 

their visit.  They want to work out where they are 

going and where they are staying, but crucially 

they want to live in the moment when they have 

arrived.  Their biggest worry is going home to 

find out that while they were staying they missed 

something good in the next village or valley.  

Providing up to date digital information is vital to 

this.  Also vital is having a vibrant, sharing culture 

on social media.  However, not all our visitors are 

‘digital natives’ and in some places access to the 

net is patchy.  We need to maintain our presence 

throughout our destination in traditional visitor 

centres and print. 

Case Study  

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur 

adipiscing elit. Donec finibus lacus in est 

iaculis aliquet. Nam tincidunt varius 

tempor. Aenean et maximus dui. 

Interdum et malesuada fames ac ante 

ipsum primis in faucibus. Suspendisse eu 

tortor condimentum, pharetra nibh 

tristique, posuere eros. 

 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 8 
 

 We will support our business community to 

produce effective promotion both digitally 

and in print   

 We will support our network of visitor 

information centres to provide the best 

service.  We will promote Shropshire Hills 

Tourism, Virtual Shropshire, Shropshire 

Tourism and Buy-From Shropshire as being 

the best places to communicate directly with 

visitors through vibrant web content and 

social media 

Objective 2 Promoting environmentally 

positive solutions to the management of our 

outstanding landscape 

 

Managing the impact of visitors on the 

environment 

The Shropshire Hills does not attract the same 

number of visits as other similar rural tourism 

destinations such as the Peak District and 

Yorkshire Dales.  However, some of its best-

known locations regularly get significant 

numbers of visitors. Carding Mill Valley, the 

Wrekin and the Stiperstones are the most 

popular sites for day visitors of all ages across a 

range of activities. The Long Mynd has become 

particularly popular with day visitors and outdoor 

enthusiasts. Other locations such as the Stretton 

Hills are very popular with walkers, walking and 

orienteering events.   

The need to manage visitor pressure in these 

areas is becoming more acute.   

 We will encourage a partnership approach to 

address visitor pressure issues  

 We will also work to ensure that the need for 

managing visitors is understood and widely 

supported 

 In addition, we will work with the Shropshire 

Hills AONB Trust to create opportunities for 

the public and business community to 

support restorative work through charitable 

giving 

Spreading visitor use across the area and through 

the seasons 

The 2017 Shropshire Hills Business Survey told us 

that spreading visitor use across the destination 

and lengthening the season should be priority 

actions for the destination. This would not only 

help reduce pressure on honeypot sites, it would 

also ensure that expenditure from visitors could 

reach more of the area.  This is important to 

sustaining the economies of isolated 

communities. 

 We will work to put the promotional 

spotlight on less known locations and iconic, 

characterful places, celebrating the 

landscape’s diversity, whilst helping to 

protect the better-known locations 

Case Study – to follow   

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur 

adipiscing elit. Donec finibus lacus in est 

iaculis aliquet. Nam tincidunt varius 

tempor. Aenean et maximus dui. 

Interdum et malesuada fames ac ante 

ipsum primis in faucibus. Suspendisse eu 

tortor condimentum, pharetra nibh 

tristique, posuere eros. 

 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 9 
 

 We will maintain web and print media 

designed to help visitors navigate, orientate 

and be inspired by our harder to reach places 

 We will promote activities and events of 

communities across the destination 

Managing the impact of visitors on people’s lives 

Traffic, inconsiderate parking and littering can 

have an adverse effect on the lives of people in 

the communities closest to our busiest places.  

These issues also affect the quality of the visitor 

experience.  Partner organisations like 

Shropshire Council, National Trust, Natural 

England and Shropshire Wildlife Trust have 

considerable expertise in dealing with these 

issues.  They also have the powers necessary to 

make changes on the ground.   

 We will continue to work with our 

destination management partners to 

highlight and address these issues where 

they arise 

 We will work with transport partners and 

providers to encourage greater use of public 

transport 

 We will promote cycling routes and self-

guided trails from our market towns and 

public transport routes.  

 We will support initiatives that seek to 

generate income from visitors to help 

manage key sites 

Objective 3 Sharing and promoting the 

economic benefits of a well-managed 

landscape 
 

Reviewing and improving destination signage 

It is important for any destination to have 

efficient signage, even in the age of sat nav and 

Siri.  Better signage means efficient journeys, 

lower fuel use, happier visitors and greater 

footfall for businesses. The Shropshire Hills 

Destination Partnership are not responsible for 

signage, however we can help influence policy 

and implementation.  We can also help 

businesses and communities who want to 

improve visitor orientation.  In addition, many of 

our most treasured places can be tucked-away in 

hard to find places.  This means that the easier to 

find places get more visitor pressure.  It may also 

mean that visitors are missing some of our most 

inspiring places. 

 We will work with partners to ensure our 

signage is fit for purpose 

 We will work with the business community, 

attractions and visitor information centres to 

help orientate visitors 

Promoting greener ways to travel 

The Shropshire Hills Shuttle is a flagship for our 

sustainable ambitions.  It has been an example of 

how partnerships can work effectively to provide 

‘Sustainable development is the 

pathway to the future we want 

for all. It offers a framework to 

generate economic growth, 

achieve social justice, exercise 

environmental stewardship and 

strengthen governance.’  

                          Ban Ki-moon 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 10 
 

greener opportunities for visitors.  It has also 

attracted green travellers and become a valued 

resource by the communities it serves. It is 

managed by Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership 

backed by the National Trust, Shropshire Council 

and Natural England. We will support the work of 

the Partnership to: 

 involve other groups and organisations to 

help us make the most of the Shropshire Hills 

Shuttle Bus service 

 expand the service, providing buses on busy 

weekdays as well as weekends and bank 

holidays during the peak seasons 

 secure more carbon efficient vehicles with a 

view to securing electric vehicles when they 

become available 

 develop monitoring and ticketing systems 

allowing us to make informed decisions 

about use and route planning 

 develop further ideas for sponsorship and 

visitor giving to reduce the level of subsidies 

needed to run the service 

 recruit local volunteers to act as eyes on the 

ground  providing a greater sense of local 

ownership and involvement in the service’s 

management 

Promoting year round activities and events 

Brexit, increasing costs of travel, and concerns 

about the security of holidaying overseas has led 

to a boom in ‘staycations’ with more people 

choosing to holiday in the UK.  Inbound tourism 

has also increased as visitors from the US, 

Australia and elsewhere have taken advantage of 

the weakness of the pound.    These two factors 

lead naturally to opportunities to grow the 

visiting season.  Our ambition is to be seen as a 

year round destination. 

 We will develop and promote a year round 

calendar of events and activities through 

print, digital media and social media 

Objective 4 To support the visitor economy 

through promoting sustainable businesses, 

produce, and activities 

 

Promoting green businesses and services for a 

better environment 

To be a truly sustainable destination we need to 

have the support of a green thinking business 

community.  The Shropshire Hills Sustainable 

Business Scheme (2008-2017) showed what 

could be achieved when businesses work 

together for a greener environment.  It also 

showed that thinking green and acting 

sustainably benefits businesses by reducing costs 

and increasing profits.  In many ways, what was a 

new idea has now become mainstream.  

However, businesses working together toward a 

better environment is still a good idea. 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 11 
 

 We will launch a new membership scheme 

promoting green business products and 

services 

 We will work with others to promote 

information and opportunities that help 

businesses prosper by being greener 

Understanding your product is essential to 

successful sales.  We believe that many local 

businesses would prosper through first-hand 

experience of what the area has to offer.  We 

also believe that this will add value to the visitor 

experience and their ability to provide a high-

quality personalised service. 

 We will promote the area’s best qualities to 

our business community  

Objective 5 To work in close partnership with 

tourism organisations, attractions and 

communities in the Shropshire Hills, across 

the county and with our neighbouring 

destinations 

 

Demonstrate how we make a difference 

Our recent survey of the business community has 

shown that there is considerable confusion about 

how tourism in the destination is managed.  

Businesses are unlikely to have heard of the 

Destination Partnership or its work.  In addition, 

the county is emerging from an unsettled period 

in tourism management. In this time, we have 

seen a reduction in communication, finance, 

resources and skills.  This has led to tourism 

being underrepresented to decision makers.   

The statement within the 2017 Shropshire 

Economic Strategy prioritising investment in 

tourism is very welcome.  We need to ensure 

that decision makers are aware of the support 

that we can offer in the delivery of the Strategy.  

 We will grow the contacts, influence and 

reputation of the Destination Partnership as 

the central focus for tourism in the 

Shropshire Hills 

 We will promote the work of the Destination 

Partnership and its members 

 We will promote the Destination Partnership 

to the LEP and other strategic local 

partnerships and organisations 

 We will work proactively with other 

destinations, AONBs and Visit Britain, 

promoting the Shropshire Hills, sharing best 

practice and developing ideas collaboratively 

  



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 12 
 

8. Next steps – making it happen 
This is an ambitious strategy.  It sets out the 

priorities and actions to address them. The only 

resources the Destination Partnership has for 

delivery is the energy and enthusiasm of its 

partners.  Once this document is agreed, the next 

steps will be as follows  

 Supporting and encouraging partners who 

deliver actions  

 Bringing partners together to lead on key 

activities 

 Identifying and signing up champions and 

partners within the DP and the wider 

Shropshire tourism network  

 Working up details for each action, with 

further consultation where necessary  

 Setting criteria for success 

All of the actions within this strategy will be 

coordinated and monitored by the Destination 

Partnership.  Progress will be reported at an 

annual tourism event that promotes and 

celebrates the industry within the destination 

and County.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 13 
 

Appendix 1. Tourism context, challenges & 

opportunities 
One of the biggest challenges facing tourism in Shropshire 

that has emerged in the past five years is organisational 

fragmentation.  The Shropshire Hills are one of four 

recognised5 destinations within the county.  There are a 

further three aspiring destinations. Visitor studies have 

consistently shown that UK market awareness of Shropshire 

is comparatively low.  Some destinations within the country 

(such as Ludlow and Ironbridge) are better known than the 

county.  However, understanding of their location is vague.  

People have heard of them, but they do not know where 

they are.  Recent work for us by Gravity Consulting (2017) 

identified that it is likely that awareness of the Shropshire 

Hills as a destination is also considerably lower than of other 

similar rural destinations.  This is consistent with previous 

studies. 

There are however no shortage of organisations promoting 

Shropshire.     

Appendix 2. Destination Management Organisations 

in Shropshire 
Shropshire’s key destinations are Shrewsbury, Ironbridge 

Gorge World Heritage Site, Ludlow and The Shropshire Hills.  

They are supported and promoted by: 

Shropshire Hills Destination Partnership oversees the 

sustainable development of tourism in the Shropshire Hills.  

                                                           

5 By Visit Britain 

It has 32 members including Shropshire Hills AONB 

Partnership, National Trust, Shropshire Hills Tourism, 

Shropshire Tourism, Ludlow, Church Stretton, Bishops Castle 

and Much Wenlock Town Councils, English Heritage and 

Shropshire Gold (for a full list see Appendix X 

Shropshire Hills Tourism is the official destination marketing 

body for the Shropshire Hills and is a not-for-profit 

membership organisation. The organisation has been 

running for nearly 30 years, and was previously the South 

Shropshire Tourism Association.  In 2016, SHT became 

independent from Shropshire Tourism.  It currently has 115 

members listed on its website6. 

Shropshire Council is recognised by Visit England as a 

Destination Management Organisation.  Responsibility for 

tourism rests within the Infrastructure and Communities 

department.  They work to influence policy concerning jobs 

and economic growth and promote economic value of the 

county’s unique cultural offer.  In addition, Outdoor 

Partnerships lead activity concerning access to the outdoors 

and management of the county’s rights of way network and 

areas of open access.  The Museum Service runs Acton Scott 

Historic Working Farm a popular attraction in the Shropshire 

Hills. 

Shropshire Tourism is ‘the official not-for-profit destination 

marketing organisation for Shropshire, with over 500 private 

sector members including accommodation providers, 

attractions, activity businesses, wedding and conference 

6 www.visitshropshirehills.co.uk 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 14 
 

venues, shops, food and drink businesses and event 

organisers.’7 

Shropshire Tourism work together with Bridgnorth & District 

Tourism Association to promote tourism in the Bridgnorth 

and Severn Valley area. 

Visit Ironbridge is the official destination marketing body for 

the Ironbridge Gorge.  The Gorge is the best-known and 

most popular destination in Shropshire.  Ironbridge Gorge is 

also promoted by Discover Telford. 

Shrewsbury Business Improvement District (BID) is a 

company tasked with making Shrewsbury ‘a better town to 

do business, visit, work, and spend time in‘. 

From 2013-2018 £1.6 million will be invested to improve the 

town’s commercial environment for over 500 businesses 

and organisations in Shrewsbury town centre. Priorities and 

projects range from marketing and promoting the town, 

access and car parking, as well as business support activities. 

Discover Telford is the overarching marketing organisation 

for the Telford and Wrekin areas including Ironbridge Gorge 

                                                           

7 www.shropshiretourism.co.uk 
8 Rural Development Programme England – Development Fund 
9 https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/industrial-strategy 
10http://www.visitengland.com/sites/default/files/downloads/strat
egic_framework_for_tourism_document_1.pdf 
11 http://www.stmem.com/downloads/company-
documents/Rural-Tourism-Action-Plan-2010-2020.pdf 

and the Wrekin.  As the Wrekin is also part of the Shropshire 

Hills AONB, it is also part of the Shropshire Hills Destination. 

Destination Ludlow Partnership was set up in 2016 in 

response to the availability of RDPE8 funding.  Ludlow itself is 

an established destination with a national reputation for fine 

food. 

Appendix 3. Policy context 
National Policy Visit Britain is working (as at autumn 2017) to 

secure the Tourism Sector Deal under the government’s 

new Industrial Strategy9. 

The Strategic Framework for Tourism in England 2010-

202010 still stands, along with the Rural Tourism Action 

Plan11 coming under this. 

The National Association for AONBs has an Accord on 

tourism with Defra and Visit England12.  

Local Policy The Shropshire Economic Growth Strategy 2017-

202113 sees the importance of the tourism economy for 

short and medium term action.  

12 http://www.landscapesforlife.org.uk/images/NAAONB-Defra-
VisitEngland-Working-Towards-Sustainable-Tourism-in-England-
July-2012.pdf 
13 https://new.shropshire.gov.uk/media/6087/economic-

growth-strategy-for-shropshire-2017-2021.pdf 

 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 15 
 

‘Assist the tourism and visitor economy sector partners to 

promote Shropshire as a destination and maximise the built 

and natural heritage assets throughout the county.’ 

It sets out the intention to invest in the growth potential of 

the visitor economy (and heritage-based businesses) 

especially with respect to innovation and technology.  

‘There will be a strategic view of the visitor economy for 

Shropshire and the wider Marches area; this will be an 

opportunity to develop strategic linkages and a coherent 

approach to marketing the County on a national and 

international scale.’ 

The Shropshire Hills AONB Management Plan 2014-1914 has 

a priority for “Supporting enjoyment and a visitor economy 

in harmony with the AONB”. 

Appendix 4. Review of last 5 years 
The following describes some of the changes we have seen 

in the Shropshire Hills in the last five years. 

Increasing use of digital media:  There has been a 

considerable boom in the use of handheld ‘smart’ devices in 

the last five years.  The increase has been supported by 

Google who are now prioritising websites that are 

‘optimised’ for mobile use.  Mobile web enquiries 

outstripped desk-based enquires for the first time in 

October 201615.  This is excluding views of Facebook and 

                                                           

14 http://www.shropshirehillsaonb.co.uk/a-special-
place/management-plan/ 

other social media that have all seen a significant increase 

on use in the last five years. This presents many challenges 

and opportunities for our tourism industry.  Mobile 

technology has become essential to visitors throughout the 

decision and buying process as well as during their visits. 

The use of Google devices for real-time navigation, and 

massive growth in social media driven by recorded and real-

time audio video footage has also affected visitor needs and 

expectations.  Virtual media has also become more 

mainstream with applications in both social media and 

promotion.  Discover Telford developed a VR tour of the 

Ironbridge Gorge in 2016. 

Austerity: The Coalition Government initiated its 

Comprehensive Spending Review in July 2010. This included 

significant reductions in public spending.  At a local level, 

this led to cuts in the last 5 years, affecting many services 

that support the tourism industry.  Many council facilities 

have been transferred to other bodies.  For example: Some 

tourist information and library services have been 

transferred to local trusts, Town and Parish Councils have 

taken responsibility for public toilets and countryside sites 

have been handed over to voluntary sector bodies. 

There has been a significant reduction in officer support for 

tourism at Shropshire Council. This has led to a loss of 

experience as well as coordination at a county level.   

15 http://www.telegraph.co.uk/technology/2016/11/01/mobile-
web-usage-overtakes-desktop-for-first-time/ 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 16 
 

In terms of the market, the recession, Brexit, increases in 

aviation fuel costs and taxation on flights as well as global 

security concerns led to an increase in domestic tourism 

visits.  This trend started before 2012.  Since Brexit in 2016, 

the value of the pound has decreased significantly fuelling 

increases in both staycation and inbound tourism.   

Changes in regional support:  

Local Enterprise Partnerships were set up in 2010 to replace 

Regional Development Agencies.  They aim to promote local 

economic growth and jobs through investment of 

Government and European funds in strategic activity.  The 

Marches LEP covers Hereford, Shropshire, and Telford & 

Wrekin. 

Funding has been available for capital development in 

tourism through LEADER and European Structural Funds.  

The majority of this funding has been for projects where the 

level of matched investment required is beyond the capacity 

of their small scale.  The lack of funding for revenue projects 

to build value, develop and market products has been 

keenly felt at a local level.  There has been considerable free 

support for developing small and start-up businesses skills 

through the Marches Growth Hub. 

‘The Marches Local Enterprise Partnership aims to build on 

the area's unique features and create the conditions for 

enterprise and business to flourish.  By leading co-ordinated 

action to stimulate the drivers of economic development, 

                                                           

16 http://www.lepnetwork.org.uk/leps/ 

including housing, transport, infrastructure, broadband 

availability, inward investment and skills, the Marches Local 

Enterprise Partnership aims to improve the economic 

prosperity of the Marches area and create sustainable 

private-sector employment.’16   

Difference between the actual relationship of Ludlow to the 

wider destination and that set out in the previous Strategy.  

Ludlow has not been as integral a partner within the 

Destination Partnership as the Strategy anticipated.  While 

there is a desire on both sides to maintain and indeed 

strengthen links, there is a feeling that moving to just 

‘Shropshire Hills’ in the destination name and logo may be 

better, and as using connections to Ludlow as and when 

appropriate. 

Change in role of Shropshire Hills Tourism, including 

separation from reciprocal membership agreement with 

Shropshire Tourism and actively seeking membership from 

tourism businesses.  Shropshire Hills Tourism is also now 

recognised as a DMO, with oversight of the Destination 

Partnership. 

Continuing evolution of countywide tourism structures – co-

ordination bodies (the Tourism Strategy Board, and 

subsequently Visit Shropshire) have not been sustained and 

there is therefore a gap.  A group formed as an offshoot of 

the Shropshire and Telford & Wrekin Local Nature 

Partnership has been looking at the links between tourism 

and the natural environment (plus heritage and other 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 17 
 

attractions).  Shropshire Tourism retains a role as the lead 

body for marketing Shropshire as a whole, and is currently 

undergoing organisational change. 

Increase in planning pressures affecting the Shropshire Hills 

AONB and surrounding area, including large-scale poultry 

units, solar farms and housing. 

Increases in general visitor numbers to key countryside sites, 

e.g. the Long Mynd, along with increases in walking, 

challenge events and active pursuits, e.g. mountain biking, 

fell running.   

Consequences include reaching full capacity at Carding Mill 

Valley more often and more quickly on peak days, and 

increased localised pressures on some sensitive sites, e.g. 

footpath erosion. 

Reduction in profile given to sustainability and 

environmental issues in commercial markets.  At one level, 

this is due to some aspects of good practice becoming 

mainstreamed.  There appears however to be less of a 

market advantage in businesses describing themselves as 

sustainable, with the opposite phenomenon of ‘green 

hushing’ (i.e. doing environmental things but keeping quiet 

about them). 

Continued and consolidated role for the AONB Partnership 

to support sustainable tourism.  This is reflected in 

employment of a Sustainable Tourism Officer.  If it goes 

ahead, an AONB Conservation Board would bring an 

additional statutory duty to promote enjoyment and 

understanding, strengthening further the role in tourism. 

The destination identity has been developed through 

agreement of a visual identity and associated values/ 

messages.  Uptake has been reasonable but not as wide as it 

could be. 

The Destination Partnership has continued to function 

providing a forum for exchange of information and co-

ordination.  Several progress updates and a mid-term review 

of the Strategy have been published.  Information about the 

Partnership and its meetings has been made fully public on 

the web, helping transparency.  A good collaboration has 

developed between Shropshire Hills Tourism and the AONB 

Partnership over running of the Partnership, publications 

such as the ‘Great Days’ leaflet, and jointly-run events such 

as the Leaflet Swap and networking event. 

The destination has a good profile and visibility on Google 

listings (and maps), TripAdvisor, Facebook and Twitter.  

Websites are closely linked and direct people to 

visitshropshirehills as the main source of information. 

Cross-border links with Wales and with Telford & Wrekin are 

generally good. 

In 2017, the Destination Partnership agreed in principle to 

move towards an area identity of just ‘Shropshire Hills’.  It 

was agreed that the previous aim to present the Shropshire 

Hills and Ludlow within the same brand had been unrealistic.  

Ludlow has its brand and marketing, which is not wholly 

linked with the Shropshire Hills.  It is agreed that both 

partners would continue to support each other and work 

together. 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 18 
 

This strategy recognises Shropshire Hills Tourism’s 

influential role in promoting the area and informing its 

visitors.  In addition, any activity we undertake also needs to 

take account of the wider county.  Recent work has 

suggested that awareness of Shropshire among key 

audience segments is still low.   

 

Appendix 5. A snapshot of our visitors 
We believe that a core market for the Shropshire Hills offer 

has in the past been described as ‘rest and relaxation 

Traditionals’.  Research over the last 12 years consistently 

shows our visitor profile is consistent with this description.  

They are typically post family, couples, aging 46-64 in the 

ABC1 socio-economic brackets.  However, the raise in 

activity holidays and day trip also shows the Shropshire Hills 

as relevant to what was described as the ‘Discoverer’ market 

profile.  These were ABC1 adults who were as likely to visit a 

museum as a wildlife attraction, enjoy outdoor leisure 

activities and are attracted to the countryside and small 

towns. 

In 2016, Visit England’s Project Lion redefined their 

domestic visitor segmentation into five groups.  These were 

based on gender, age, lifestyle, social class and region.   

Using this updated approach our core audience segment can 

be described as  

‘Regular short breakers, day walkers, cyclists and 

outdoor enthusiasts, cultural tourists, skill, crafts and 

new experience seekers, nature enthusiasts, foodies’ 

The 2012-17 Tourism strategy also recognised two further 

market segments described as Discoverers and 

Cosmopolitans.  These two audience segments are have 

similar life profiles to Traditionals but with a bias towards 

more active experiences. 

  



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 19 
 

Appendix 6.  The role of the Shropshire Hills 

Destination Partnership 
The Shropshire Hills and Ludlow Destination Partnership 

brings together tourism businesses, public bodies and 

community representatives. This forum supports sustainable 

development in tourism and a higher quality experience for 

visitors. 

The Destination Partnership’s roles include: 

• coordinating visitor information 

• influencing marketing and promotion 

• coordinating services and facilities 

• sharing best practice 

• supporting visitor information centres 

• developing the area’s sense of place and identity 

• identifying and addressing issues concerning visitor 

management 

• researching and gathering information 

• maintain links to other Destination Management 

Organisations and tourism partners within the county 

and beyond.  

In addition, the Partnership is the forum for the area’s 

participation in the European Charter for Sustainable 

Tourism in Protected Areas. The 2011-17 Sustainable 

Tourism Strategy put the Destination Partnership on a very 

strong footing.  It enabled the Shropshire Hills AONB 

Partnership to secure the European Charter.   

In addition it: 

• Established the destination as a new geographical unit, 

with a business association linked to the AONB 

• Developed the area’s branding 

• Promoted recognition for walking and landscape as a 

driver for tourism in the area 

• Created interest and activity among businesses on 

working sustainably 

The Destination Partnership Members 
Bishop's Castle & Clun Tourism CIC 
Bishop's Castle Town Council  
Bridgnorth & District Tourism Association 
Church Stretton Tourism Group 
Church Stretton Town Council  
Cleobury Country Tourism Group 
Destination Ludlow Partnership 
English Heritage 
Herefordshire Tourism 
Ludlow Assembly Rooms 
Ludlow Town Council  
Much Wenlock Town Council  
National Trust 
Offa’s Dyke Path National Trail 
Shropshire Churches Tourism Group 
Shropshire Council 
Shropshire Gold 
Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership  
Shropshire Hills Discovery Centre 
Shropshire Hills Tourism 
Shropshire Tourism 
The Bog Visitor Centre 

Upper Norton Holiday Property Bond 

 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 20 
 

Appendix 7. Destination SWOT analysis  
 

Strengths 
1. Quality of our landscape and its designation 
2. Local produce and small producers 
3. Established DMO17  
4. Dedicated local tourism business membership organisation18 
5. High quality local food and drink offer 
6. Established variety of festivals and events 
7. Rich cultural heritage assets and stories 
8. Talented and diverse range of local artists, crafts people and writers 
9. Easy access from the West Midlands 
10. Central rail and bus links connection to main many main settlements 
11. High visitor loyalty 
12. Diverse offer of characterful  landscapes &  market towns and villages 
13. Excellent location for outdoor recreation 
14. Comprehensive, well managed Rights of Way network 
15. Large areas of Open Access 
16. Large areas of landscape managed for conservation and recreation 
17. Strength of neighbouring destinations – Shrewsbury, Ludlow, 

Ironbridge, Severn Valley 
18. Underdeveloped and unspoiled by commercialism 
19. Established and well understood short-break and day visitor market 
20. Excellent track record of cooperation & promotion of sustainable 

tourism activity  
 

Weaknesses 
1. Destination relatively unknown 
2. Awareness of Shropshire low 
3. Integration with other DPs  
4. Limited promotion of Shropshire 
5. Limited coordination of the county as a destination 
6. Very competitive domestic tourism market 
7. Strong competition from similar destinations 
8. Available support strongly weighted towards capital investment and 

‘hard’ outputs 
9. Very limited funding available for destination marketing activity  
10. Investment directed towards individual businesses but not collaborative 

activity by DMOs 
11. Rural car dependence 
12. Poor mobile coverage for data traffic 
13. Patchy free Wi-Fi provision 
14. Relatively poor Wi-Fi speeds 
15. Uncoordinated online offer – too much ‘noise’ 
16. distribution network for printed media relying on good will 
17. Small business owners perceive a lack of strategic coordination and 

support 
18. Lack of high-end accommodation provision 
19. Lack of local research into visitor’s needs and visiting trends 

 

                                                           

17 Destination Management Organisation – Shropshire Hills Destination Partnership 
18 Shropshire Hills Tourism 



Promoting environmentally positive tourism in the Shropshire Hills 

V2.0 21 
 

 

Opportunities 
1. Staycation market, glamping and caravanning boom 
2. Continued popularity of good quality local food, gastro-experiences and 

small producers 
3. Engagement through social media campaigns, blogging, review sites and 

bespoke printed media 
4. Working Council and LEP through the ‘Shropshire Economic Strategy’ 
5. Increasing small business confidence in the use of social media for 

promotion and engagement 
6. Fuel tax on air flights, Brexit and other issues effecting domestic 

oversees travel & resulting in increased inbound tourism  
7. Funding for carbon-friendly businesses development 
8. Revitalised will for cooperation across the County 
9. Recognition of visitor economy as important part of Shropshire 

economy by the LEP19 and Council 
10. Replacement of EU funding with more bespoke UK Government funding 
11. Greater recognition of landscape benefit to public health and wellbeing 
12. Growth in wellbeing and ‘new skills’ markets 
13. Growth in cycling and other activity markets 
14. Collaborated marketing and knowledge sharing within National 

Association of AONBs   
15. Links to a wider network of protected landscapes through European 

Charter 
16. Increasing use of electric, driverless and self-drive transport 

 

Threats 
1. Increasing pressure on honey-pot sites 
2. Road and rail infrastructure developments along the A49 corridor 
3. Aging market  
4. Drive for economic growth at the expense of the resource 
5. Loss of EU funding 
6. Lack of investment and support for public transport 
7. Brexit diverting investment away from tourism 
8. Rising costs for small businesses 
9. Competition form stronger destinations 
10. Domestic and industrial development eroding landscape quality and 

rural nature 
11. Creeping commercialism 
12. Limited engagement with the LEP 
13. Small Business transience 

 

                                                           

19 Local Enterprise Partnership 



 1 

 

 Committee and Date 

Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership 

 

14th November 2017 

 Item 

 

 7 
 

 

 

AONB MANAGEMENT PLAN REVIEW 

 

Responsible Officer Phil Holden, AONB Partnership Manager 

e-mail: phil.holden@shropshire.gov.uk  Tel: 01743 254741   

 

Summary 

 

This paper outlines the process and proposed timetable for the five year AONB Management 

Plan review.  The agenda item will also include brief verbal presentations of current key issues 

by member reps of a number of partner organisations, to initiate the Plan review process. 

 

Recommendation 

The Partnership is recommended to endorse the proposed process and timetable, and based 

on the presentations of issues, to highlight key areas on which the Management Plan review 

should focus. 

 

 

Background 

The AONB Management Plan is on a five year cycle, due for approval of the next Plan for 

2019-2024 by the end of March 2019.  The process of review of the Management Plan is an 

important opportunity to engage partners and look at emerging issues.  With the wide 

implications of Brexit on land management and the environment this is very timely, though 

there are of course many uncertainties.  The Plan review process needs to start now, though 

the outcome of the Conservation Board proposal will affect it.  If it goes ahead, the 

Conservation Board itself should approve the new Plan.  There are precedents nationally for 

the timescale to be varied, and the potential creation of a Conservation Board for the 

Shropshire Hills AONB may be a reason for us to do this.  If the Conservation Board does not 

go ahead, the Plan must be approved individually by our two local authorities, as the previous 

Plans have been. 

 

National Association for AONBs support 

The National Association for AONBs (NAAONB) have commissioned a useful support 

document providing much information on current policy and context.  They are also in their 

current discussions with Defra promoting the idea that AONB management plans should 

provide a key framework for the development of a post Brexit agri-environment support 

scheme.  The essence of this case is that: 

 AONB Management Plans are statutory documents with a democratic basis rooted in 

evidence based policy  

mailto:phil.holden@shropshire.gov.uk


 2 

 The integrated nature of AONB management plans ensures that agricultural policy is 

cross referenced to wider environmental, social, and economic outcomes, the 

outcome of which will result in more productive and prosperous rural areas 

 Integrated delivery at the local level will improve opportunities for simpler, cheaper, 

more effective delivery 

 The AONB management plan is a plan for sustainability.   

We do not currently have this level of detail in our Management Plan and would almost 

certainly need to take a more thorough approach if the next Plan is going to be used directly 

for this purpose.   

 

Process and timescale 

Appendix 1 shows the process and timetable proposed for the Management Plan review.  The 

Partnership is invited to comment on and endorse this process. 

The current AONB Management Plan, having been produced electronically as a ‘text only’ 

document is a good deal less ‘visible’ than the previous Plans, and arguably has achieved less 

influence as a result.  This review should be used as a way to raise the profile of the 

Management Plan again, and the most effective method of publication needs considering.  A 

series of inter-linked web pages with downloads is one option being looked at.  A revised 

‘State of the AONB report’ looking at statistics and trends is being worked on at the current 

time and will be released in time to inform the review. 

 

 

 

List of Background Papers  

Current AONB Management Plan and supporting information can be found at 

http://www.shropshirehillsaonb.co.uk/a-special-place/management-plan/.  

Human Rights Act Appraisal 

The information in this report is compatible with the Human Rights Act 1998. 

Environmental Appraisal 

The recommendation in this paper will contribute to the conservation of protected 

landscapes. 

Risk Management Appraisal 

Risk management has been appraised as part of the considerations of this report. 

Community / Consultations Appraisal  

The topics raised in this paper have been the subject of earlier consultations with Partnership 

members. 

Appendices    

Appendix 1 Timetable for review of the Shropshire Hills AONB Management Plan for 2019-24 

Appendix 2 Summary scoping document to support the start of the Plan review process 

 

 

  

http://www.shropshirehillsaonb.co.uk/a-special-place/management-plan/


 3 

Appendix 1 Timetable for review of the AONB Management Plan for 2019-24  

Including Sustainability Appraisal (SA), with required Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 

 

TASK WHO EXPECTED 

TIMETABLE 

FORMALITIES AND NOTIFICATION   

Authorisation from local authorities to undertake review on their behalf AONB Team Nov 17 

Agree process and timetable of review Partnership Nov 17 

Notify Natural England S90(1) and other stakeholders AONB Team Nov 17 

Announce requirement for SEA/SA AONB Team Nov 17 

SCOPING   

Gather information relating to new evidence/ issues, including partner input 

at Partnership meeting 

AONB Team & 

Partnership 

Nov - Dec 17 

Discussion of Plan review priorities among Team, Partnership, Transition 

Board and key partners. Incorporate within planned events where possible 

Partnership Nov 17 –  

Jan 18 

Identify main areas requiring update or new work AONB Team & 

Partnership 

Nov 17 –  

Jan 18 

List and assess relevance of new strategies/ plans, including in Wales AONB Team Nov –Dec 17 

Collate community views on issues from existing sources  AONB Team Nov –Dec 17 

Write scoping report for SA/SEA, setting context and objectives, 

establishing baseline evidence and indicators (stage A) 

AONB Team Nov –Dec 17 

Consult on scoping report for SA/SEA With statutory 

agencies 

Jan 18 

Publish update to State of the AONB report  AONB Team Jan 18 

REVIEW   

Undertake specific targeted consultations /participatory workshops with 

relevant groups 

Partnership & 

wider 

Jan – Mar 18 

Redraft main issues, aims and objectives and discuss with relevant groups. AONB Team & 

Partnership 

Jan – Mar 18 

Work on topic sections with relevant groups – issues, policies and actions. AONB Team & 

Partnership 

Jan – Mar 18 

Assess effects of objectives, policies & actions and for SA/SEA and develop 

alternatives. (Stage B)  An element of independent review is required. 

AONB Team Feb – Mar 18 

Collate new draft plan and Environmental Report for SA/SEA (Stage C) plus 

non-technical summary. 

AONB Team Mar - April 18 

Approve Consultation Draft Partnership May 18 

CONSULTATION & APPROVAL OF FULL PLAN   

Run public consultation on new draft plan and SA/SEA report (Stage D).  12 

week period.  

AONB Team/ 

Partnership 

May - July 18 

Run consultation events AONB Team May - July 18 

Consider comments from consultation and amend plan AONB Team July - Aug 18 

Report on consultation and suggested amendments Partnership Aug 18 

Send to Natural England for formal observations AONB Team  Sept 18 

Consider comments from formal observations and amend plan Partnership Nov - Dec 18 

Get new plan formally approved through Cabinet of local authorities Local authorities Jan 19 - 

Send approved Plan to Secretary of State and disseminate AONB Team By March 19 

Publish Statement on how SA/SEA was taken into account and changes 

made. 

AONB Team March 19 

Implement and monitor Plan and its effects (SA/SEA Stage E). Partnership April 19 on 



 

Review of the Shropshire Hills AONB Management Plan for 2019-2024 
October 2017 

 

What the AONB is about 

Special places matter to us.  They give us a sense of belonging, calm, 

security and wellbeing. 

The Shropshire Hills have evolved through the interaction of people 

and nature over a long time to produce a character and quality which 

we value. 

The landscape contributes greatly to the economy and to our health 

and culture.  Food production needs soils and water, while our hills 

and woods help to manage flood risk.  Nature and beautiful 

landscapes are good for our mental wellbeing and quality of life, 

provide a sense of identity, and attract business investment. 

Safeguarding the positive interaction between people and nature is 

vital to protecting and sustaining the area and its value. 

 

What do you think? 

What do you most value about the Shropshire Hills?  

What is changing, for better or worse? 

What needs to be done, and how can we work together to do it? 

 

We need your help to understand what makes the Shropshire Hills 

special to you and what you can do.  The new AONB Management 

Plan will set out priorities to build support for the landscape over the 

next five years.  We will be putting on a range of events and activities 

to seek people’s views.  The more people we involve, the more 

successful the Plan will be. 

 

 
 

 

         



 

Legal requirements 

The primary legal purpose of AONBs is conserving and enhancing 

the natural beauty of the area.  

The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 created a statutory 

responsibility for local authorities and Conservation Boards to 

produce AONB Management Plans and then to review these every 

five years.  Our two relevant local authorities, Shropshire Council and 

Telford & Wrekin Council, ‘act jointly’ in preparation of the Plan 

through the Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership.   

 

What the Plan is 

It is a plan for the AONB as an area, not for any one organisation. 

The 2019-24 AONB Management Plan will be the fourth statutory 

Plan, and will therefore build on the sound foundations of earlier 

Plans.  Many issues affecting the AONB are ongoing, and while the 

Review process will lead to a new Plan, this will develop the previous 

ones.  It will take account of new trends, but not approach the 

situation as a start from scratch.  We will also set out and celebrate 

what has been achieved over the past five years. 

 

Who is it for? 

The Plan seeks to influence those whose actions have an effect on 

the AONB, including policy and decision makers, land managers 

and local businesses, and organisations acting locally. 

The Plan is the definitive document to support the statutory 

designation of the AONB, which: 

•  gives formal recognition to the nationally important landscape, 

•  requires special land use planning policies to apply, and 

•  encourages an integrated approach to land management. 

 

 

What is the process? 

Leading the process of reviewing the Management Plan and 

overseeing its implementation are the main functions of the AONB 

Partnership.  The broad membership of the Partnership incudes 

most of the relevant stakeholders, but we want to reach further to 

involve others with an interest in the area.  

 

A number of sources from grassroots to strategic level will inform 

review of the Management Plan, as shown below: 

 

 
 

An updated ‘State of the AONB’ report will be produced, and 

partners and the wider public engaged.  These sources will guide 

which sections of the Plan need most changing, and relevant people 

will be brought together to work on this.   

An open public consultation period on a full draft new document 

will take place during 2018, leading to the processes of formal 

approval of the new Plan by the spring of 2019. 

 

 

 

Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership 

Unit 9 Drovers House, The Auction Yard, CRAVEN ARMS, SY7 9BZ  

Tel: 01743 254740  Email: shropshirehillsaonb@shropshire.gov.uk 

www.shropshirehillsaonb.co.uk 

http://www.shropshirehillsaonb.co.uk/



	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the last meeting
	5 Our Common Cause - Uplands Commons Project
	6 Draft Shropshire Hills Sustainable Tourism Strategy Consultation
	Appendix to item 6 Draft Sustainable Tourism Strategy

	7 AONB Management Plan Review

